STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr.

Case No.: 2019-001476

RECEIVED

Jun 18 2020

SC Court of Appeals

David Caesar,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TOMMY A. THOMAS
Bar No.: 005536
Post Office Box 88
Irmo, SC 29063
(803) 732-5507

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the circuit court err in dismissing Petitioner's declaratory judgment action regarding the constitutionality of using his armed robbery conviction, for which he was sentenced under the Youthful Offender Act, to enhance later convictions because it believed the petition was neither properly brought nor meritorious?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF FACTS

Petitioner David Caesar is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Sumter County Clerk of Court. Petitioner received his first conviction in 1994 when he was found guilty of armed robbery. He was sentenced to 15 years suspended to a Youthful Offender Act (“YOAs,” S.C. Code Ann. §24-19-10, *et seq.*) sentence of three to six years. In 2001, he was indicted by the Sumter County Grand Jury for two counts of armed robbery and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2001-GS-43-0543). He proceeded to trial before the Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Jr. and a jury that found him guilty of one count of armed robbery and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Petitioner was sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for the armed robbery due to enhancement under S.C. Code Ann. §17-25-45 and five years for the firearms charge. A notice of appeal was filed with an *Anders* brief submitted on Petitioner’s behalf. The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the action by an order dated February 27, 2004. Petitioner filed post-conviction relief applications in 2005, 2008, and 2016, as well as a state habeas corpus action in 2011. All of these were dismissed or denied without relief.

Petitioner filed a motion for declaratory judgment on May 14, 2018 in the Court of Common Pleas, Sumter County, Third Judicial Circuit. (Case No.: 2018-CP-43-0852, ROA p.9), in which he requested a declaration that the enhancement of his sentence using the charge for which he received a YOAs sentence was unconstitutional. A motion to dismiss was filed in this matter by the State on March 15, 2019 (ROA p.17) with a return filed by Petitioner on March 29, 2019 (ROA p.23). The motion was heard by the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran at the Sumter County Courthouse on June 24, 2019 (ROA p.26) and denied via order dated August 9, 2019 (ROA p.1).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A judge must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for a particular defendant. A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010) (citations omitted).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in dismissing Petitioner's declaratory judgment action regarding the constitutionality of using his armed robbery conviction, for which he was sentenced under the Youthful Offender Act, to enhance later convictions because the petition was both properly brought and meritorious.

Petitioner appeals the grant of the State's motion to dismiss his declaratory judgment action in which he alleged that his armed robbery conviction, for which he was sentenced under the Youthful Offender Act ("YOA," S.C. Code Ann. §24-19-10, *et seq.*), was improperly used to enhance his later convictions under S.C. Code Ann. §17-25-45, thus causing him to be sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole.

The threshold issue for which this action was dismissed is that it should have been brought before the court as an application for post-conviction relief under the Uniform Post-Conviction Relief Act ("PCR Act," S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-10, *et seq.*). Respondent's argument for this was that post-conviction relief has taken the place of all other remedies formerly available for challenging the validity of a conviction or sentence. Specifically, the order of dismissal cites S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-20(B): "[The PCR Act] comprehends and takes the place of all other common law, statutory or other remedies heretofore available for challenging the validity of the conviction or sentence. It shall be used exclusively in place of them."

However, not every case dealing with the ramifications of a sentence is properly under the PCR Act. In Thompson, the South Carolina Supreme Court reviewed a declaratory judgment action that requested the petitioner's requirement to register as a sex offender be removed, as the kidnappings for which he was convicted were not sexual in nature. Thompson v. State, 415 S.C. 560, 785 S.E.2d 189 (2016). Thompson argued that the case was ripe and proper because he was experiencing harm while incarcerated due to that classification, as he could not receive certain

services through the Department of Corrections. Additionally, this type of relief is clearly considered in the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act:

Courts of record within their respective jurisdictions shall have power to declare rights, status and other legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be claimed. No action or proceeding shall be open to objection on the ground that a declaratory judgment or decree is prayed for. The declaration may be either affirmative or negative in form and effect. Such declarations shall have the force and effect of a final judgment or decree.

S.C. Code Ann. §15-53-20.

Thompson can be analogized to the case at bar because Petitioner may not be incarcerated today if it were not for the enhancement from his first offense. Petitioner's 2001 armed robbery conviction carried a sentence of 10-30 years, with parole eligibility after service of seven years. See S.C. Code Ann. §16-11-330(a). Even with the additional five years for the weapons charge, Petitioner could have been released on parole in 12 years when, instead, he is serving his eighteenth year. Petitioner is clearly suffering a harm of such nature that a judicial declaration of his rights is proper as considered in Thompson, and for which he should not be limited to filing under the PCR Act. For these reasons, this action was properly brought as a declaratory judgment and the order of dismissal must be reversed for consideration of Petitioner's arguments.

In the order of dismissal, the court reviewed Petitioner's allegations as if he had filed a post-conviction relief application and held that his application would have been dismissed due to filing beyond the statute of limitations and filing a successive application. Such findings are improper in the context of this order because, as Respondent repeatedly noted, this is not a post-conviction relief action. Such findings prejudice any future review of Petitioner's claims and should not be considered by this court or any future court.

Regarding the merits of this action, Petitioner urges the court to reconsider its stance on using crimes sentenced under the YOA being used to enhance under South Carolina's strike statute

(S.C. Code Ann. §17-25-45). The United States Supreme Court and South Carolina Supreme Courts have already taken the stance that it is unconstitutional to have a mandatory scheme that would sentence a juvenile to death or life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. See Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014); Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012). While Byars mostly considered how South Carolina would implement the higher decision, Miller clearly held that a sentence of death or life imprisonment without the possibility of parole was a violation of the Eighth Amendment. Id., 567 U.S. at 465, 132 S.Ct. at 2460.

In making this determination, the justices called upon earlier cases that considered the age of defendants in sentencing - Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S. Ct. 1183 (2005) and Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 68, 74, 130 S. Ct. 2011 (2010). These earlier opinions separately considered the imposition of the death penalty or life imprisonment without the possibility of parole and made changes due to the effect that age has on a human brain.

[Roper and Graham] establish that children are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing. Because juveniles have diminished culpability and greater prospects for reform, we explained, “they are less deserving of the most severe punishments.” Those cases relied on three significant gaps between juveniles and adults. First, children have a “lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility,” leading to recklessness, impulsivity, and heedless risk-taking. Second, children “are more vulnerable . . . to negative influences and outside pressures,” including from their family and peers; they have limited “contro[l] over their own environment” and lack the ability to extricate themselves from horrific, crime-producing settings. And third, a child’s character is not as “well formed” as an adult’s; his traits are “less fixed” and his actions less likely to be “evidence of irretrievabl[e] deprav[ity].”

Miller, 567 U.S. at 471, 132 S.Ct. at 2464.

These considerations, though given a nod by the YOA, are not fully taken into account. The fact that the YOA exists is evidence that the South Carolina legislature, with influence and input of the judiciary and legal communities, recognizes that younger people need consideration. “The original YOA provided a sentencing alternative for most young first-time offenders with the

theory that more rehabilitative treatment would result in a lower recidivism rate. See S.C. Code § 55-392(e) (Supp. 1969).” FEATURE: THE LEANER AND MEANER YOUTHFUL OFFENDER ACT, 9 S. Carolina Lawyer 15, 15. Be that as it may, the YOA does not fully recognize the vulnerability of a young brain. Even worse, the YOA has been amended to include a narrower category of individuals in terms of age and offense than under its first iteration.

Although these offenders are not juveniles who would be included under the protections of Miller or Byars, they are barely removed from that qualification. The law recognizes that these individuals are in need of special treatment and consideration in sentencing, yet there is no differentiation between their underlying convictions from this age and any other conviction. If young individuals get relief in sentencing, why should their conviction not be entitled to the same relief? The recognition that young individuals are unable to conform their behavior led to the creation of the aforementioned legislation regarding sentencing. Should they not receive the same benefit if they reoffend? Petitioner avers that youthful convictions should be removed from any consideration of enhancement or multiple offenses. As such, his sentence should be reduced and no longer qualify for enhancement under S.C. Code Ann. §17-25-45.

CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court vacate the circuit court's order of dismissal, thus allowing consideration of the issues at hand.