STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Apr 30 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001476

David Caesar, Appellant,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
CHIEF DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL

L. DAVID LEGGETT III
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Office of the Attorney General
SC Bar Number 104366
PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
Phone: (803) 734-3177
DavidLeggett@scag.gov

HARLEY L. KIRKLAND
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Office of the Attorney General
SC Bar Number 100382
PO Box 11549

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the circuit court properly dismissed Mr. Caesar's declaratory judgment action for failure to state a claim because his challenge must be brought under the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act?
2. Whether life without the opportunity for parole is cruel or unusual punishment?
3. Whether the circuit court properly dismissed Mr. Caesar's declaratory judgment action because he was not sentenced to life imprisonment without the opportunity for parole as a juvenile?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 14, 2018, Mr. Caesar filed a Petition for Declaratory Judgment in the Sumter County Court of Common Pleas. (2018-CP-43-00852). On March 15, 2019, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss, and Mr. Caesar filed his Return to State's Motion to Dismiss on March 29, 2019. A hearing was held on June 24, 2019, and Respondent's Motion was granted and the case dismissed by order of the circuit court on August 9, 2019. Then on September 4, 2019, Mr. Caesar filed a Notice of Appeal.

In 1994, Mr. Caesar was convicted of armed robbery and sentenced to fifteen years suspended under the Youthful Offender Act to a sentence of three to six years. (1994-GS-31-00311A). After completing his sentence, in 2001, Mr. Caesar was indicted by the Sumter County Grand Jury for two counts of armed robbery and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime. (2001-GS-43-00543). He was found guilty of one count of armed robbery and possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime. Under the Two Strikes Law, his sentence was enhanced, and he was sentenced to life imprisonment without the opportunity for parole. A direct appeal was filed and dismissed by the Court of Appeals on February 27, 2004. *State v. Ceasar*, No. 2004-UP-138, 2004 WL 6249211 (Ct. App. Feb. 27, 2004).

Mr. Caesar also filed post-conviction relief actions in 2005 (2005-CP-43-00045), 2008 (2008-CP-43-02805), and 2016 (2016-CP-43-00050), along with a state habeas corpus claim in 2010 (2010-CP-31-00160). Each of these actions was dismissed or denied without relief.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“This [c]ourt reviews all questions of law de novo.” *Lollis v. Dutton*, 421 S.C. 467, 477, 807 S.E.2d 723, 728 (Ct. App. 2017) (quoting *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 302, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009); see also *Clardy v. Bodolosky*, 383 S.C. 418, 425, 679 S.E.2d 527, 530 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court.” (quoting *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. M & T Enters. of Mt. Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 654, 667 S.E.2d 7, 12 (Ct. App. 2008))). Whether the circuit court erred by granting Respondent’s motion to dismiss is a question of law; therefore, the proper standard of review is *de novo*.

ARGUMENT

A. The circuit court properly dismissed Mr. Caesar's declaratory judgment action for failure to state a claim because his challenge must be brought under the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act.

In his declaratory judgment action, Mr. Caesar asked the circuit court to declare that his sentence violates the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.¹ After that declaration, he wanted the court to set aside his conviction and sentence. Pet. for Declaratory J. 5-6 (R. pp. 14-15). The Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-27-10 to -160 [hereinafter PCR Act], has taken the place of all other remedies formerly available for challenging the validity of a conviction or sentence, including actions for declaratory judgment. S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-20(B) (“Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, [the PCR Act] comprehends and takes the place of all other common law, statutory or other remedies heretofore available for challenging the validity of the conviction or sentence. *It shall be used exclusively in place of them.*”) (Emphasis added)); *see also Simpson v. State*, 329 S.C. 43, 46, 495 S.E.2d 429, 431 (1998) (“In this case, the allegations raised in appellant’s habeas corpus petition clearly are cognizable under the [PCR] Act.”). The PCR Act explicitly applies to constitutional challenges to convictions and sentences. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(A)(1). Mr. Caesar challenges the constitutional validity of his criminal sentence, Pet. for Declaratory J. 5 (R. p. 14); Petitioner’s Brief 8-10, so Mr. Caesar must make his claim in an action for post-conviction relief. Because Mr. Caesar is challenging his conviction and sentence in this action for declaratory judgment rather than an action brought under the PCR Act, the circuit court correctly dismissed the action for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.

¹ Mr. Caesar does not address the equal protection claim in his brief, so the Respondent has not addressed it, except in this footnote to say that we believe circuit court properly dismissed it.

Mr. Caesar attempts to rely on *Thompson v. State*, 415 S.C. 560, 785 S.E.2d 189 (2016), for the proposition that the PCR Act does not preclude the filing of a declaratory judgment action. Petitioner’s Brief 7-8. However, the two cases are not analogous. Mr. Caesar is challenging the constitutionality of his criminal sentence. *See* Pet. for Declaratory J. 5 (R. p. 14) (“Mr. Caesar prays for an evidentiary hearing on the issue of whether he is prejudiced by his 1994 conviction to determine the [c]onstitutionality of his enhancement and sentence”). In contrast, Mr. Thompson was challenging the civil requirement that he register as a sex offender. *Thompson*, at 563, 785 S.E.2d at 190. Footnote 3 in *Thompson* highlights this distinction:

Section 23–3–430 is found in the portion of the South Carolina Code encompassing South Carolina’s sex offender registry. As we have repeatedly stated, the sex offender registry is a civil requirement separate and apart from the criminal punishments associated with sexual offenses in this state. *State v. Nation*, 408 S.C. 474, 481, 759 S.E.2d 428, 432 (2014) (citing *In re Justin B.*, 405 S.C. 391, 394, 404-08, 747 S.E.2d 774, 775, 781-83 (2013)). As such, a declaratory judgment, and not post-conviction relief (PCR), is the appropriate vehicle in which to address this matter. *Cf. Williams v. Ozmint*, 380 S.C. 473, 671 S.E.2d 600 (2008) (stating that PCR is intended to address constitutional violations related to the criminal conviction (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 17–27–20(a) (2007))).

Thompson v. State, at 564, n.3, 785 S.E.2d at 191, n.3 (2016). Mr. Caesar is not challenging a civil requirement separate from his criminal conviction; he is challenging the constitutionality of his criminal sentence. *See* Pet. for Declaratory J. 5 (R. p. 14). Therefore, the PCR Act provides his exclusive remedy,² and this court should affirm the decision of the circuit court.

² Respondent acknowledges that this case is not an action for relief under the PCR Act, but Respondent nonetheless points out that should the case be construed as such it would be untimely and successive. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-27-45(A), -90.

B. This court should affirm the dismissal of Mr. Caesar’s declaratory judgment action because imprisonment for life without the opportunity for parole is not cruel or unusual punishment.

Mr. Caesar asserts it is cruel and unusual punishment to use a prior conviction, for which he was sentenced under the Judge William R. Byars Youthful Offender Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 24-19-05 to -160 [hereinafter YOA], as the basis for a sentence enhancement under the Two Strikes Law, S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45. South Carolina’s appellate courts “have rejected the argument that it is cruel and unusual punishment to use prior convictions for offenses committed as juveniles for sentencing enhancement under section 17-25-45.” *State v. Green*, 412 S.C. 65, 86, 770 S.E.2d 424, 435 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing *State v. Standard*, 351 S.C. 199, 204, 569 S.E.2d 325, 328 (2002); *State v. Williams*, 380 S.C. 336, 345-46, 669 S.E.2d 640, 645 (Ct. App. 2008)). *A fortiori*, using an adult conviction for the basis of a sentence enhancement—even if sentenced under the YOA—should not constitute cruel and unusual punishment.

Furthermore, as was thoroughly explained by the circuit court, Mr. Caesar made no showing in support of this claim that life imprisonment without the opportunity for parole is cruel or unusual punishment. Order of Dismissal 5-6 (R. pp. 5-6). Mr. Caesar provided “no persuasive or controlling authority in support of his position,” and instead “merely recited[d] and paraphrase[d] the Eighth Amendment along with asserting in a conclusory manner that the imposition of such a sentence is ‘excessive and in violation of the Eighth Amendment.’” Order of Dismissal 6 (R. p. 6). In his appeal, Mr. Caesar fails to point to arguments or authority which contradicts this statement by the circuit court. Mr. Caesar bears the burden in demonstrating his sentence was cruel or unusual and has failed to even address that burden. As a result, this court should affirm the decision of the circuit court.

C. This court should affirm the dismissal of Mr. Caesar’s declaratory judgment action because Mr. Caesar was not sentenced as a juvenile to life without the opportunity for parole.

Couched as an Eight Amendment challenge, the majority of Mr. Caesar’s appeal focuses on the constitutionality of sentencing juveniles to imprisonment for life without the opportunity for parole. Petitioner’s Brief 8-10.³ To the extent that the issue has been properly preserved, Mr. Caesar’s argument belies the relevant facts in this case. Mr. Caesar is currently serving a sentence imposed under the Two Strikes Law, S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45, not the YOA. The validity of the YOA has no bearing on Mr. Caesar’s current sentence and is not relevant to this case.⁴ Mr. Caesar concedes that “there is no differentiation between their underlying convictions from this age and any other conviction.” Petitioner’s Brief 10. He is correct. The fact that Mr. Caesar was sentenced under the YOA does not change the conviction, or preclude it from being used to enhance a subsequent conviction. *See State v. Green*, 412 S.C. 65, 84-85, 770 S.E.2d 424, 435-36 (Ct. App. 2015). Moreover, Mr. Caesar points this court to *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014) and *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012). Petitioner’s Brief 9. Both of these cases address whether juveniles may be sentenced to life imprisonment without the opportunity for parole. At the time of his conviction and sentencing, Mr. Caesar was not a juvenile. Therefore, these cases also lack relevance to Mr. Caesar’s current sentence.

³ While Mr. Caesar did raise an Eighth Amendment challenge in his Brief, he did not articulate this particular argument below. *See* Pet. for Declaratory J. (R. pp. 10-15); Petitioner’s Return to State’s Motion to Dismiss (R. pp. 23-25). As such, Mr. Caesar did not raise this issue before the circuit court and the circuit court was not given an opportunity to rule on it. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. *Linda Mc Co., Inc. v. Shore*, 390 S.C. 543, 556-57, 703 S.E.2d 499, 506 (2010) (“It is well settled that, but for a very few exceptional circumstances, an appellate court cannot address an issue unless it was raised to and ruled upon by the trial court.” (quoting *Lucas v. Rawl Family Ltd. P’ship*, 359 S.C. 505, 598 S.E.2d 712 (2004))). Thus, the issue has not been preserved for appeal.

⁴ This statement should not be construed to indicate that Respondent doubts the constitutionality of the YOA.

Lastly, Mr. Caesar asks two questions: 1) If young individuals get relief in sentencing, why should their convictions not be entitled to the same relief? And 2) should they not receive the same benefit if they reoffend? Petitioner's Brief 10. The answer is clear: the law does not provide any such relief. If Mr. Caesar desires to change the law, then he must do so through the legislature not through this action. Furthermore, a Youthful Offender sentence is not a "free pass." Mr. Caesar received the benefit of a Youthful Offender sentence. Then, after receiving that benefit, Mr. Caesar decided to re-offend. To argue that he deserves more of a benefit after squandering the initial YOA benefit and re-offending is not logical or meritorious.

CONCLUSION

The PCR Act provides the exclusive vehicle for the relief Mr. Caesar seek; therefore, dismissal of his Petition for Declaratory Judgment for failure to state a claim was proper. Moreover, his sentence is neither cruel nor unusual. A sentence enhancement triggering life imprisonment without the opportunity for parole is not cruel or unusual punishment, and his arguments regarding sentences of life imprisonment without the opportunity for parole for juveniles are simply not relevant to this case. As such, the circuit court's order of dismissal should be affirmed.